ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Barnwell County

Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge

---

RECEIVED

MAY 20 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

SAMMIE L. GERRICK,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-000385

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

LARA M. CAUDY  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the court erred by admitting into evidence a “root” associated with witchcraft and a can of “Law Stay Away” that were seized from the center console of Appellant’s truck pursuant to a search warrant because this evidence was not relevant and any probative value of this evidence was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice to Appellant?

2.

Whether the court erred by denying Appellant’s motion for a mistrial after a law enforcement officer characterized the “brown piece of paper bag” that was “taped up” to form some sort of “capsule” with weeds, twigs, and a penny inside and the words “Set me Sammie Gerrick free from murder and revoked bonds” written on the outside as a “witchcraft root” in front of the jury since this testimony was highly prejudicial and the court’s curative instruction failed to cure the prejudice suffered by Appellant?

3.

Whether the court erred by refusing to grant a mistrial after the state showed a videotape of Appellant’s interview with law enforcement before his arrest with a polygraph machine clearly visible on the table since this was unduly prejudicial and denied Appellant a fair trial?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Barnwell County Grand Jury indicted Appellant at the November 2013 term of General Sessions for the offense of murder. R. 638-639. On October 29, 2013, a hearing was held before the Honorable Doyet A. Early, III pursuant to State v. Blair, 275 S.C. 529, 273 S.E.2d 536 (1981), to determine Appellant's competency to stand trial. R. 14, ll. 1-6. After Appellant was found competent, a second hearing was held on November 13, 2013 before Judge Early to resolve numerous pretrial motions. R. 16, ll. 1-10.

Appellant's case was ultimately called to trial on November 18, 2013 before Judge Early, and a jury. R. 1. Assistant Attorneys General S. Creighton Waters and Jason S. Anders represented the state, and Daniel W. Williams represented Appellant. R. 1.

On November 21, 2013, the jury found Appellant guilty. R. 553, ll. 21-25. He was sentenced by Judge Early to life without parole. R. 555, ll. 17-21.

This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Kimberly (“Kim”) Smith, the decedent’s girlfriend at the time of his death, testified that she last heard from the decedent, Tyrone Donaldson, around 1:30 pm on July 21, 2011. She said she sent him numerous text messages that afternoon and called him when she got off of work that evening, but Tyrone never responded. When she got home, she noticed Tyrone’s small white Honda was not in the driveway. R, 53, l. 16 – 54, l. 24. Upon entering the house, she asked Tyrone’s young daughter if she had seen her father. According to Kim, the daughter “said she didn’t know where he went but he came in the house and changed his shoes and he went in the closet and got a gun out and left. Said he’d be right back.” R. 55, ll. 4-18.

Kim drove around Blackville that evening looking for Tyrone and stopping in areas where she knew he would “hang out,” but could not find him. R. 55, l. 25 – 56, l. 12. She then contacted Tyrone’s mother, who said she had not heard from Tyrone since earlier that day. R. 56, l. 25 – 57, l. 8.

According to Kim, it was unusual for Tyrone not to respond to text messages and telephone calls and she had never known him “to just leave and not call like this.” R. 54, ll. 9-15; R. 58, ll. 22-24. Kim testified that Tyrone’s mother said “if I don’t hear from him by in the morning then she was going to go to the police.” R. 58, ll. 2-5.

Maurice Williams testified that he had known Tyrone “all [his] life growing up” and Appellant “was kind of part of my family.” He and Appellant “lived right next door to each other.” R. 63, ll. 15-21; R. 65, ll. 11-14. Maurice testified that he received a telephone call from Appellant on Friday, July 15, 2011. According to Maurice, Appellant said he was in jail and asked Maurice “did I have any money and how [much] I had to contribute towards

getting him out of jail.” Maurice maintained that he told Appellant that he “only had \$2,500 which [he] was saving up for a down payment on a house.” R. 65, l. 21 – 66, l. 18. He testified that Appellant “told [him] to get with Tyrone [the decedent]. And that was basically the end of that conversation.” R. 66, ll. 19-23.

Maurice claimed that he “did get with Tyrone” and Tyrone already knew “that Sammie [Appellant] was wanting us to get him out of jail” and he would “get back with me when he find out how much it cost.” R. 66, l. 23 – 67, l. 1. Tyrone contacted him a few days later and said it was going to cost \$6,600 “to get him out.” R. 67, ll. 11-14. Tyrone told Maurice “that he couldn’t pay it all by himself. And, you know, would I help him. Would I give half.” R. 67, ll. 15-20. Maurice was concerned about being paid back, but claimed Tyrone told him “that Sam [Appellant] said he’d give it [the money] to us 30 minutes after he get out of jail.” R. 67, l. 21 – 68, l. 4. He testified that he agreed to meet Tyrone at the bank on the morning of July 21, 2011 and give Tyrone his half of the money. He claimed he met Tyrone shortly after 10:00 am, gave him \$3,300, and then went back to work. R. 68, l. 10 – 71, l. 13.

Tyrone called Maurice later that day between 1:00 and 1:30 pm and said, “I got him [Appellant]. We’re on our way back to Blackville. Do you want to talk to him?” R. 71, l. 18 – 72, l. 3. According to Maurice, Appellant then got on the telephone and said, “I appreciate y’all doing that for me. We going to get the money [that Appellant owes them]. I’m going to bless y’all boys.” He claimed Appellant was “insinuating [by this last comment] that he was going to give us more money than we gave him.” R. 72, ll. 4-18. Maurice also testified that Appellant said “Tyrone should have my [Maurice’s] money when I get off work.” R. 73, ll. 7-14.

Maurice next heard from Tyrone between 2:00 and 2:30 pm. Tyrone told Maurice he had dropped Appellant off at home to change his clothes and that Tyrone had went home as well to switch cars before “going back to get the money.” R. 72, l. 19 – 73, l. 6. Maurice claimed he “had no more contact with either one of them” after this conversation so he called Tyrone when he got off work around 5:30 pm to check on his money. He called Tyrone numerous times, but there was “no answer.” R. 73, ll. 15-22. Maurice found this to be “unusual” especially since they “had been talking all day.” R. 75, ll. 5-10.

Later that night sometime “between seven and eight o’clock,” Maurice spoke to Appellant in the yard near the side of Appellant’s house.<sup>1</sup> Maurice said Appellant “asked me did I see Tyrone. And I was like, no, the last time I talked to him y’all was together. He was like, well I gave him the money. He got your money.” Maurice claimed Appellant told him he and Tyrone “went out there and dug the safe up . . . [and] when we got the safe open and Tyrone seen all those hundred dollar bills, he kissed me on my forehead.” According to Maurice, Appellant did not say where the two went to dig up this safe, but he said there was between \$90,000 and \$100,000 in the safe. Maurice testified that Appellant then said “we took that money and we loaded that little Honda down with money. Had the back of that Honda loaded down with money because I didn’t want to ride with it in the truck.” He claimed Appellant said, “Tyrone took off going his way and he [Appellant] went his way” and then Appellant asked, “[D]o you reckon that nigger took my money?” Maurice said that after the two had this conversation he had “a nervous feeling” and “didn’t know what was going on.” R. 75, l. 22 – 77, l. 20.

---

<sup>1</sup> As noted above, Maurice testified he and Appellant were next door neighbors. See R. 65, ll. 12-14.

The following night, Maurice received a text message from a telephone number he did not recognize. The text message said, “help me this Tyrone am hurt Kim ex got me help please.” After he got this text message, Maurice said he called his friend, Jamaal Berry. Jamaal told Maurice that he had received “basically the same text” from the same number. R. 82, l. 4 – 84, l. 5. Maurice claimed that “[t]he way he [the person who sent the text message] spelled I’m” stood out to him because “it was spelled am, A-M instead of I-M.” He testified, “When I paid attention to it, I was like, I know somebody else that text like that. So I went . . . through my phone and I have some texts from Sammie Gerrick [Appellant] in there. And all the text [messages] in there where he used the word I’m, he misspelled it A-M. The same exact way.” R. 84, l. 12 – 85, l. 1. For example, Appellant had previously sent Maurice a text message that said, “[M]an am worried like hell didn’t sleep or eat dog damn man damn.” R. 86, ll. 16-20. Maurice said, “It’s supposed to be I’m, but it’s spelled A-M, am.” R. 86, ll. 21-23.

Additionally, Maurice testified that when he saw Appellant on July 22, 2011, the day after Tyrone disappeared, Appellant “had some scratch marks on his chest.” R. 87, ll. 19-25. Maurice said he asked Appellant “what happened” and Appellant told him that law enforcement had tazed him when he was arrested earlier in July and “they had him face down in the parking lot on the pavement. So . . . he was insinuating that the pavement rubbed against his chest and scratched him.” R. 88, ll. 1-17.

Bradley Smith testified that in July 2011 he lived in Blackville with his mother, his brother, and Appellant. Smith’s mother, Claudette Daniels, was Appellant’s girlfriend for nearly a decade and the two were dating in July 2011. R. 115, l. 24 – 116, l. 24. Smith testified that he saw both Appellant and Tyrone Donaldson on July 21, 2011, the day Tyrone

went missing. He said he first saw the two at his house around one or two o'clock in the afternoon. He explained, "Tyrone pulled up. Sam [Appellant] was in the car with him. He [Tyrone] dropped him [Appellant] off. Sam came in the house, changed [his clothes]. Tyrone left. Tyrone probably about 30, 40 minutes later came back. Tyrone was sitting outside on the phone. I looked out the window and saw him. Then Sam came out [of] the [bed]room, got in the car with him [Tyrone]. And they talked and he [Appellant] got back out the car, went behind the barn, grabbed two shovels, put them in the back of his [Appellant's] pickup truck. And he [Appellant] pulled out first [in his pickup truck], then Tyrone pulled out after [in his own car]." R. 117, l. 9 – 118, l. 11.

Smith said he saw Appellant again later that night around ten o'clock. He claimed "[y]ou could tell something was wrong" "[b]ecause he [Appellant] was sitting outside on the steps for hours. He just looked - - just looked like he was facing - - like he had a lot on his mind." R. 118, ll. 12-24.

Shaneka DeLoach testified that she saw Appellant and Tyrone Donaldson around 3:15 pm on July 21, 2011 at a "BP gas station." She claimed, "I seen Tyrone sitting in the car. Tyrone never got out his car. And Sam [Appellant] was standing at the driver's side talking to Tyrone. And I kept noticing that they could have been fussing because he [Appellant] was moving his hands and like looking real mean." R. 123, ll. 9-23. DeLoach said that "Tyrone was in a white Honda Civic" and she thought Appellant was driving a burgundy Dodge truck. R. 123, l. 24 – 124, l. 7. She later admitted that she never actually saw Tyrone, she simply recognized his car. R. 124, ll. 21-22; R. 126, ll. 11-15. According to DeLoach, when Appellant left the gas station he headed in the direction of Denmark, but she could not remember which direction Tyrone went. R. 125, ll. 7-15.

Jamaal Berry testified that he knew both Appellant and Tyrone Donaldson and that Maurice Williams was his best friend. He first learned Tyrone was missing when Kim, Tyrone's girlfriend, called and asked him on July 21, 2011 whether he had seen or heard from Tyrone that day. He said Maurice called him later that night and said "[h]e needed to talk to me real bad. Come to Blackville right now." R. 131, l. 14 – 132, l. 10. According to Jamaal, when he got to Maurice's house around eight or nine o'clock, Maurice "was really scared" and told him "what was going on with Sammie Gerrick [Appellant] and the money." R. 132, l. 11 – 133, l. 4. Specifically, Maurice told Jamaal that Appellant allegedly told him "about that safe in the woods" and "[a]bout digging up the safe out in the woods and putting that money in Tyrone's car." R. 139, ll. 11-23. Jamaal also claimed that Maurice told him "if anything happened to him tell the police Sam [Appellant] did something to me." R. 140, ll. 5-6.

The following night, July 22, 2011, Jamaal received an unusual text message from a telephone number he did not recognize. The message said, "Help me I'm hurt Kim's ex-husband has me or something similar to that or whatever." Jamaal said he talked to Maurice and Kelsea Hallingquest, Tyrone's sister-in-law, about the text message because they had both received a similar message. He also called Appellant. According to Jamaal, when he told Appellant about the text message, Appellant said, "I told you it wasn't me. Maybe this will take some heat off me, or something like that." R. 133, l. 18 – 136, l. 10.

Kelsea Hallingquest was Tyrone's sister-in-law and was living with him at the time of his death. On the morning of July 21, 2011, Tyrone asked her to babysit his daughters and then left. She said she "knew he was going to get Sammie [Appellant] out of jail, but [she] didn't know what jail he was in." Kelsea claimed that Tyrone returned later that

afternoon sometime after one o'clock, changed his shoes, and left again, this time with a shotgun. She said Tyrone told her that he was leaving, but did not tell her where he was going. R. 141, l. 9 – 144, l. 2. When Tyrone did not return later that night, she called his friends looking for him, but she "couldn't get anybody." R. 144, ll. 3-18.

The following night, July 22, 2011, Kelsea received a text message from a telephone number she did not recognize. The message said "help me sister-in-law Kim ex-husband got me am hurt." R. 144, l. 25 – 145, l. 10. She claimed that Tyrone never called her his sister-in-law and that she "was either Kelsea or his sister." R. 145, ll. 11-18. She also explained that on that same day, July 22, 2011, Lana Joyner called her and said she had seen Tyrone's car parked behind the China Express in Orangeburg. After Lana called her, Kelsea reported this information to the Blackville Police Department and drove to Orangeburg. R. 146, l. 25 – 148, l. 12.

John Holston, the Chief of Police for the Blackville Police Department, testified that his agency was contacted by Tyrone's mother, Carol Bracey, on July 22, 2011. Bracey told him that "she believed her son was missing because he had not come home the night before . . . That herself and other family members . . . weren't able to contact him." R. 151, ll. 7-23. After speaking with Bracey, the Blackville Police Department began investigating the report as a "missing person's case" and entered the "vehicle information" for the white Honda Civic, which was the car Tyrone "was last seen driving," into the "National Crime Information Center" (NCIC) database. Holston explained that his office was "contacted by a representative from Orangeburg Public Safety advising that they had located a vehicle matching that description. After they confirmed the information we had entered in NCIC,

they notified us it was indeed the vehicle that was last seen driven by Mr. Donaldson [Tyrone].” This was also on July 22, 2011. R. 152, l. 5 – 153, l. 9.

That same day, July 22, 2011, Holston interviewed Appellant for the first time because, through his initial investigation, he learned Appellant was the last person seen with Tyrone before he went missing. According to Holston, Appellant told him during this interview that Tyrone had gotten him out of jail that day, that they had gone to Enterprise Bank so Appellant could cash a check, and then they “went to the Junior Food Mart, which is the BP station in Blackville.” Holston testified that Appellant said this was the last time he had seen Tyrone. R. 153, l. 14 – 154, l. 9.

Holston interviewed Appellant a second time on July 23, 2011. During this second interview, Appellant told Holston the same account he had given the day before, but provided more detail. According to Holston, Appellant explained during this interview that he had been sentenced to six months imprisonment for failing to pay child support and that he was later charged with escape after he ran from the courthouse while he was in custody. Appellant said a Bamberg County Detention Center employee named Johnell Rice helped him contact Tyrone several times while he was in jail about getting the money to post his bond. Tyrone ultimately picked Appellant up on that Thursday morning, July 21, 2011, in his white Honda Civic and drove him home. Once home, Appellant said he went inside, cut his hair, shaved, and showered. After he “cleaned up,” Appellant and Tyrone went to Enterprise Bank where Appellant cashed a check for a hundred and four dollars. The two then went to Junior Food Mart where Appellant put thirty dollars worth of gasoline into his 1998 Dodge pickup truck. Appellant again indicated that this was the last time he had seen Tyrone before he disappeared. R. 155, l. 6 – 158, l. 9. Also during this interview, Appellant

told Holston that Tyrone had given him his ATM card that day and he had since used it. R. 154, l. 10 – 155, l. 4; R. 158, ll. 19-24. Holston claimed he also noticed some scratches across Appellant's arms and chest during this interview and photographed them. R. 159, l. 11 – 160, l. 13.

About a week later on July 30, 2011, Holston received a telephone call from Appellant. Holston claimed that when he answered Appellant said, "Tyrone's not - - he not dead . . . they've got him. He said that Black's got Tyrone and they want \$25,000 in cash for him. He said, I don't have that kind of money, but I'll do anything to get him back . . ." Holston testified he asked Appellant "do you know where he [Black] got him [Tyrone]" and Appellant said "over around Springfield . . . where Black was from." He claimed he told Appellant that "if they call you back, get more information and then call me back and then we'll see where we'll go from there." R. 160, l. 20 – 162, l. 22. According to Holston, Appellant also told him during this conversation that he had talked to Tyrone and Tyrone said "he was hurt and that he needed help, and they got me." R. 162, l. 23 – 163, l. 3.

Appellant's wife, Charlene Gerrick, chose to invoke her marital privilege not to testify about her communications with Appellant. R. 170, l. 18 – 172, l. 7. According to Charlene, Appellant came to her house on July 21, 2011, the day Tyrone disappeared, around nine or ten o'clock at night. She claimed that after they "spent some time together," she "took him [Appellant] to go get a white car . . . back up in the woods." She said they went down a paved road and then "turned and went on a dirt road" into the woods. She identified the car as a white Honda Civic. Charlene alleged that Appellant "got out [of] my car, got into that car [the white Honda Civic], and we came back out [of the woods] and he drove it over to Orangeburg" and parked it behind "the China Express." After Appellant

parked the car, Charlene gave him a ride back to her house and Appellant went home. R. 174, l. 10 – 179, l. 19.

On August 3, 2011, Charlene was interviewed by Lieutenant Shaun Harley, an agent with the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division (SLED). She told Harley exactly what she had told the jury about driving Appellant to the woods to move the white car and how Appellant had driven the white car to the China Express in Orangeburg. Charlene explained that after she told Harley this information, she took the police out to the wooded area off the dirt road where she had gone with Appellant to move the white car and showed them where it was located. R. 180, l. 5 – 181, l. 9.

Lieutenant Harley explained that Chief Holston of the Blackville Police Department had contacted SLED on July 22, 2011 and asked for assistance with this investigation. R. 182, l. 12 – 183, l. 10. He was then assigned to the case. That same day, he drove to Blackville and was “briefed” by Holston about what law enforcement knew about the case at that time. Holston also told Harley about his first interview with Appellant. R. 184, l. 12 – 185, l. 15. Harley then participated in the second interview of Appellant with Holston. This interview occurred sometime after midnight on the morning of July 23, 2011. R. 185, ll. 16-24. Harley claimed that during this interview he noticed scratches on both of Appellant’s arms and his chest. According to Harley, Appellant said he received these scratches while he was incarcerated at the Bamberg County Detention Center when “a light fixture fell on top of him.”<sup>2</sup> R. 187, l. 1 – 188, l. 3.

---

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