**ORIGINAL**

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

**RECEIVED**

**Appeal from Barnwell County  
Honorable Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge**

MAY 20 2015

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE,**

**Respondent,**

**v.**

**SAMMIE LEE GERRICK,**

**Appellant**

**Appellate Case No. 2014-000385.**

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

CAROLINE M. SCRANTOM  
Assistant Attorney General

P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina, 29211  
(803) 734-6305

J. STROM THURMOND, JR.  
Solicitor, Second Judicial Circuit

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

(R. p. 260, l. 21 – p. 262, l. 23 (emphasis added)). The State maintained, and the trial court agreed, that the polygraph did not appear recognizable. “It just looks like a computer and some papers on a table just like people would have in an office.” (R. p. 18, ll. 3-10). The trial court denied the motion for mistrial. (R. p. 263, l. 7).

#### *Standard of Review*

Again, the decision to grant or deny a mistrial rests within the sound discretion of the trial judge and will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion. *Thompson* at 560, 757 S.E.2d at 82. A mistrial “is an extreme measure which should be taken only where an incident is so grievous that its prejudicial effect can be removed in no other way.” *Beckham* at 309, 513 S.E.2d at 610. It is warranted only when absolutely necessary, and where a defendant shows both error and resulting prejudice. *Thompson* at 560, 757

S.E.2d at 82.

A) The trial court meticulously ensured compliance with its *in limine* ruling against any mention of a polygraph.

“A trial judge should be meticulous in ensuring that the jury makes no improper inference from any reference to a polygraph. *State v. Pressley*, 290 S.C. 251, 252, 349 S.E.2d 403, 404 (1986) (evidence regarding polygraph tests or the defendant’s willingness or refusal to submit to a polygraph test inadmissible) (citing *State v. McGuire*, 272 S.C. 547, 253 S.E.2d 103 (1979)). Here, the trial judge acted meticulously in controlling his courtroom. Indeed, the word “polygraph” never reached the ears of any juror. From all accounts, neither did any cognizable projection reach any juror’s eyes. The record proves illustrative that the polygraph truly could not be discerned. Even defense counsel’s renewal of the issue during post-trial motions illustrates that regardless of his concern “with all the equipment” on the interview table at issue, he only “*thought*” he saw “leads on the thing that could have run to [the Appellant]. *No one else saw that, but I thought I saw it on there.*” (R. p. 614, ll. 6-12 (emphasis added)). At the post-trial hearing, the trial court pointed out that in addition to the deficient quality of the video, no one ever alluded to any “polygraph”:

THE COURT: Let me stop you right there . . . At no time during the trial of the case was the word “polygraph” ever mentioned.

THE STATE: Absolutely not.

THE COURT: Never.

THE STATE: No, sir.

(R. p. 615, ll. 11-17). The court denied that motion for new trial, finding that “even had

the video been shown in its entirety, it is of such poor quality that it cannot be made out that the things on the table are anything but a laptop and some notepads. Nothing was hooked up to the defendant or visibly obvious as polygraph equipment.” (R. p. 620-622).

This Court has analogously upheld the denial of a motion for mistrial where a witness began to approach the stand carrying a three by two-and-a-half-inch urn containing the victim’s ashes, but where “the trial court immediately prevented her from advancing any further and asked the jury to leave the courtroom.” *State v. Dial*, 405 S.C. 247, 257, 746 S.E.2d 495, 500 (Ct. App. 2013). Regardless of the urn’s heart shape, “[t]he trial court denied Dial’s motion given the small size of the item, the manner in which Richards approached the witness stand, and the fact that the trial court had the best view of the item and still did not know it was an urn.” *Id.* at 257-58, 746 S.E.2d at 500. Defense counsel in *Dial* failed to establish that any juror did see the urn, and it was not presented in an attention-grabbing manner. *Id.* Although the trial court issued a curative instruction in *Dial* at the request of defense counsel, counsel in the present case did not wish to draw additional attention to the unintentional projection and so no curative words were issued.

Notwithstanding the lack of curative words and even in light of the court’s ruling, “there was no need to redact it at all because the video is so grainy and because all that you can make out on the table is just a computer and some notepads. There’s obviously nothing hooked up to the defendant. He actually gets up and moves around during the course of the video.” (R. p. 614, l. 24 – p. 615, l. 4). At least one item rests on the table in every interview clip. In fact, no curative words were needed in this case because the jury never garnered the opportunity to draw any inference of a polygraph. The post-trial Order

reflected the same, making a finding similar to that in *Dial*:

this Court finds that the quality of the video was even worse and less discernable when it was magnified on the movie screen, and the video without the overlay was only up for seconds at the very beginning before the error was realized, the video turned off, and the jury sent out. Therefore, this Court finds there was simply insufficient time for any juror to make out what was on the table beyond just normal office items like pads and a computer. At no time during the video or the trial was the word polygraph mentioned before the jury.

(R. p. 621). It is also undisputed that the misstep occurred inadvertently. (R. p. 263, ll. 5-6; R. p. 613, l. 18; R. p. 614, l. 12); *See State v. Parker*, 391 S.C. 606, 612, 707 S.E.2d 799, 802 (2011) (mistrial appropriate where prosecutor's conduct rises to the level of goading the defendant into so moving).

The record evidences that no mention of a polygraph transpired before the jury. Without the mention of a polygraph, there can be no error in the trial court's denying a mistrial. The record also evidences that regardless of any projection of a polygraph, no prejudice can flow from that projection because the polygraph was not discernible. Thus, no error or prejudice results as a mistrial was not warranted under the circumstances.

**IV. Any error is harmless given the totality of the evidence leading to the Appellant's conviction.**

Improperly admitted evidence and the denial of a mistrial only constitute reversible error when the admissions cause prejudice. *State v. Thompson, supra*, 352 S.C. 552, 562, 757 S.E.2d 77, 83 (Ct. App. 2003). “Whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the particular case. No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case.” *State v. Mitchell*, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985). Where a review of the entire record establishes the error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, meaning that the error could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial, the conviction should not be reversed. *Thompson, supra*.

Evidence of the Appellant's guilt proves overwhelming even absent the brown paper parcel, canister, and projection of the video at issue.<sup>10</sup> The remainder of the evidence is circumstantial, not unlike the parcel and novelty canister. But, the totality of the remaining evidence allows for the connection of collateral facts which paints a narrative of guilt. *See State v. Logan*, 405 S.C. 83, 97-98, 747 S.E.2d 444, 451-52 (2013); *State v. Rogers*, 405 S.C. 554, 748 S.E.2d 265 (Ct. App. 2013). Here, there is no other reasonable explanation. First, the Appellant's incarceration and his need for bail and bill money establishes motive. Because the Appellant could not pay his bills, he also could not refund the victim and his friend Maurice Williams for their bonding the Appellant out of jail.

---

<sup>10</sup> Respondent asserts that even if the trial court sustained the Appellant's objection to projecting the video clip at issue, the audio contents of the video remained admissible evidence for the jury's consideration.

The victim followed behind the Appellant after the bailout with the expectation that the Appellant was collecting money for repayment. The two were spotted in tandem the remainder of that afternoon. First they left the Appellant's house, but not before the Appellant put two shovels in the bed of his truck (the victim was recovered from a shallow grave). (R. p. 117, l. 24 – p. 118, l. 9). Then they were seen at the Enterprise Bank ATM and at the Junior Food Mart, both in Blackville. (R. p. 123, ll. 1-23; R. p. 396, ll. 17-34). Joe Thomas saw the Appellant drive past Thomas' house with another car close behind around 3:00 that afternoon, which is corroborated by a call from that friend to the Appellant. (R. p. 433, l. 4 – p. 434, l. 18). The Appellant said during an interview with law enforcement that he went by Thomas' house to get sand, but according to Thomas, that never happened. (R. p. 434, l. 19 – p. 435, l. 3). Thomas' house lies within a mile or so of the crime scene. (R. p. 435, ll. 4-16).

No one heard from the victim after, and then the victim's cell phone permanently goes off the grid, as evidenced by undelivered text messages. (R. p. 340, l. 18 – p. 342, l. 19; State's Exhibit 72). Cell phone records show that the last four phone calls the victim ever makes are to the Appellant. (R. p. 469 l. 24 – p. 471, l. 21; R. p. 499, ll. 3-11; State's Exhibits 71 and 72). After that last phone call, made from the Blackville area, the Appellant's phone escaped from the grid for two hours during the same time period as when the victim's phone forever lost service. (R. p. 325, l. 4 – p. 334, l. 1; R. p. 499, l. 12 – p. 501, l. 1; State's Exhibits 71 and 72).

The Appellant resurfaced that evening, telling Maurice Williams that he and the victim dug up a safe full of money to reimburse him for the bailout, but that the victim drove off with it. (R. p. 76, l. 2 – p. 77, l. 20). Also that night, a visitor at the Appellant's

residence saw him change clothes around 7:30 and place his other clothes in the laundry room. (R. p. 109, l. 5 – p. 110, l. 17). This was after the Appellant came home to shower after being bailed out of jail.

The next day, an ATM camera catches the Appellant using the victim's debit card to withdraw money. The victim's card was also used several times the day the victim disappeared, including paying energy bills around midnight. (R. p. 404, l. 6 – p. 405, l. 25; R. p. 411, l. 1 – p. 413, l. 23; R. p. 414, ll. 2-14). The victim went missing long before midnight. The victim's sister-in-law, with whom he lived, testified that the victim would never lend his debit card or PIN number to anyone. (R. p. 148, ll. 19-23).

Maurice Williams also sees the Appellant the next day and notices scratches on his chest. (R. p. 87, ll. 19-25). When questioned about those scratches by law enforcement, who also noticed them, the Appellant stated that a lightbulb burst overhead in his jail cell days prior, causing injury. Jailhouse employees testified that the Appellant did not report any injury during his incarceration, nor did it appear that he had any scratches. (R. p. 103, l. 1 – p. 105, l. 20; R. p. 159, ll. 13-15; R. p. 206, ll. 10-17; R. p. 346, l. 3 – p. 347, l. 25).

The victim's friends also received a mysterious text message purporting to be from the victim, but from an unknown number, claiming that the victim was hurt and asking for help. (R. p. 82, ll. 4-17; R. p. 133, l. 18 – p. 134, l. 1). When one recipient asked the Appellant about the text, the Appellant replied that it might take the heat off of him. (R. p. 135, l. 22 – p. 136 l. 14). The texts incorrectly used "am" as a substitute for "I'm," just like the Appellant consistently did as well. (R. pp. 84-87). Those texts came from a trac phone pinging from the same location as the Appellant's phone at the time the

texts were sent. (State's Exhibit 73; R. p. 468, ll. 3-18; R. p. 513, l. 13 – p. 514, l. 11).

Of import, the Appellant's wife testified that late during the night of the victim's disappearance, the Appellant asked her to follow him out to the woods near Sunshine Road so that the Appellant could collect the victim's car, drive it to Orangeburg, and park it at the China Express. (R. pp. 174-180). The Appellant's wife actually took law enforcement to the woods where the Appellant initially retrieved the victim's car; those woods proved to be the crime scene. (R. pp. 198-99). The victim was found in a shallow grave, face-down, with asphyxiation the probable cause of death. (R. p. 281, ll. 1-4; R. p. 309, ll. 1-18). Autopsy results showed defensive lacerations on the victim's left arm. (R. p. 305, ll. 1-7).

Investigators found full set of the Appellant's fingerprints on the victim's car. (R. p. 384, ll. 1-10; R. p. 391, ll. 1-8). Also apparent at the crime scene was some green netting. (R. p. 275, ll. 15-18). That same type of netting was present in the Appellant's yard from sod which was laid about a year prior, and more green netting was collected from the Appellant's other Blackville residence. (R. p. 118, l. 25 – p. 119, l. 10; R. p. 291, ll. 16-20; R. p. 293, l. 25 – p. 294, l. 2).

Adding insult to injury, the Appellant provides a series of voluntary, yet incongruent statements to law enforcement. Each time law enforcement received a new tip in their investigation, Gerrick came forward with "a new story which would explain the new information." (R. p. 462, ll. 13-20). The Appellant first explained that the victim bailed him out of jail and took him home, where the Appellant took a shower. The Appellant said that went to Enterprise Bank and the Junior Food Mart with the victim, but then went home. (R. pp. 153-54). Then the Appellant said he has access to the victim's

bank account because they had joint ownership of \$18,000 from a backhoe. (R. p. 193-95). Days later, the Appellant contacted Chief Holston to say that “Black” held the victim for \$25,000 ransom, but did not re-contact the Chief with proof of life or contact information as requested. (R. p. 161-66).

Having discovered the victim’s body, law enforcement brought in the Appellant for another interview, confronting him with the information about the victim’s car. (R. p. 204). The victim admitted to being in Orangeburg, but did not come forward with information that he was at the crime scene. (R. p. 217). It was not until the Appellant was served with the murder warrant that he began to claim that he remained with the victim after their stop at the Junior Food Mart. (R. pp. 226-27). After Lieutenant Harley told him homeowners on the R.d saw his truck, Gerrick changed his initial story about never being present at the crime scene. (R. p. 234, l. 14 – p. 236, l. 8).

The Appellant next divulged a drug deal which allegedly also involved Andre Hightower and O’Shane Dixon. (R. pp. 368-461). Both Hightower and Dixon testified that they had no knowledge or involvement with a drug deal; they had an alibi for the day the victim disappeared. (R. pp. 417-25). Dixon added that the Appellant kept calling him after the victim disappeared to see if Dixon knew anything about the investigation. (R. p. 424, l. 18 – p. 425, l. 25). The Appellant instead stated that he was instructed by Hightower to move the victim’s car to Orangeburg in exchange for \$400. (R. pp. 229-233).

The morning after his arrest, the Appellant asked to speak with law enforcement again, now claiming he looked on as the others involved in the drug deal beat the victim. (R. pp. 456-461). The victim allegedly arranged the drug deal with “Big Joe” from

Georgia, and the Appellant stated that he went along on the deal because he was supposed to receive some of the funds. (R. p. 228). However, the victim had no connection to drugs, nor did he test positive for any drugs during autopsy. (R. p. 241, ll. 11-22; R. p. 317, ll. 5-17).

Then, Early Glover testified that months after the crime, the Appellant promised him \$1000 in exchange for copying a statement that said Glover and the Appellant were present when the victim was beaten, but that neither of them had anything to do with it. The Appellant wrote the statement and Glover copied and signed it. The Appellant never mentioned Early Glover in any prior statement, but did send a letter to SLED stating that somebody could vouch for his innocence. (R. pp. 237-39; R. pp. 442-47).

The evidence in this case constitutes substantial circumstantial evidence. Whether by motive, opportunity or acts of guilt, when one strings it together, all evidence points to the Appellant. Thus, any erroneous admission of the paper parcel and its "set me free" contents, novelty canister labeled "Law Stay Away," and the nondescript black polygraph box seen on the video projection are harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

**CONCLUSION**

For all of the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that this Court should affirm the appellant's conviction.